
1. LlCENSEEnOCATlON INSPECTED. 

ECS Mid-Atlantic, LLC 
14026 Thunderbolt Place #lo0 
Chantilly, VA 20151 

REPORT NUMBER@) 2o06-oo1 

1. Based on the inspection findings, no violations werd identified. 

2. Previous violation(s) dosed. 

3. The violation(s),.speafically described to you by the inspector as nokdted violations, are not being cited because they were self-identiied. 
non-repetitive, and Ccrrectlve action was or Is being laken, and the remaining criteria in the NRC Enforcement Policy, NUREG-1600, to 
exerclse disaetlon, were satisfied. 
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Non-Cited Vilation(s) was/were discussed involving the following requirement(s) %id Corredwe Action($): 

I' 2. NRClREGlONAL ofFlCE 
U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission 
Region I, 475 Allendale Road 
King of Prussia, Pennsylvania 19406-1415 

A, - 4. During this inspection certain of your activities. as described below and/or attached, were In violation of NRC requirements and are being 
cited. This form is a NOTICE OF VIOLATION. which may be subject to posting in accordance with 10 CFR 19.11. 

(Violations and Corrective Actions) 

10CFR20.1101 requires that the liceasee conduct annual previews of the radiation 
safety program. 
Contrary t.0 the above, the licensee did not conduct a preview in 2005. 
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3. DOCKET NUMBER(S) 

0 3 0-3 04 6 2 

--__.. ._ .... ._ ... _. __.___.__.____._-__.-___ ---.-- ,_-. ___.- 

Licensee's Statement of Corrective Actions for Item 4, above. 
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4. LICENSEE NUMBER(S) 5. DATE(S) OF INSPECTION 

45-24974-01 August 1, 2, 3 200 6 


